
Mark Saccoccio  
Town Clerk  

  01525 631920 
      info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

 

 
Council Chamber 

18 February 2022 
 
To:  Members of the Health Services Task and Finish Group (Councillors D Bowater, 
R Goodchild, V Harvey, S Jones, T Morris, S Owen and G Perham) 
(Copies to all Town Councillors for information) 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Health Services Task and Finish 
Group to be held on Friday, 4 March 2022 commencing at 12.30 pm in the Council 
Chamber.  

 
M Saccoccio  
Town Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

 Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of the 
Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the meeting. 
Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to the Town 
Clerk. 
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 (i) Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members are required to 
declare any interests which are not currently entered in the Member’s Register 
of Interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it.  
(ii) Should any Member have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item on 
the agenda, the Member may not participate in consideration of that item 
unless a Dispensation has first been requested (in writing) and granted by the 
Council (see Dispensation Procedure). 
 

 

THIS MEETING MAY 
BE RECORDED * 

Please do not attend this meeting if: 

 You have tested positive for Covid-19 or have symptoms of Covid-19. 

 You have been advised to self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace, the NHS app 

or for any other reason. 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/


HEALTH SERVICES TASK AND FINISH GROUP Friday, 4 March 2022 
 

 

 

3.   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC (3 MINUTES PER PERSON; MAXIMUM 15 

MINUTES)  

 

 To receive questions and statements from members of the public in respect of 
any item of business included in the agenda, as provided for in Standing Order 
No.s 3 (e)(f)(g) and 3(h). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 8) 

 

 (a) To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the meetings 
held on 18 October 2021 and on 10 November 2021 (attached).  
 
(b)  To receive information updates on any matters arising from the previous 
meeting (if appropriate). 
 

5.   INTEGRATED CARE HUB FOR LEIGHTON-LINSLADE (Pages 9 - 64) 

 

 To receive and consider: 
 
(a)  Report presented to the Executive on 7 December 2021 in response to the 

Motion submitted by Cllr V Harvey and the minutes of that meeting 

(attached).   

 

(b)  Email correspondence dated 19 January 2022 in response to the letter sent 

on behalf of the Task & Finish Group in November 2021 (attached). 

 

(c)  Draft Central Bedfordshire Plan Caring Together 2021-2025 as presented 

to the CBC Health and Wellbeing Board on 26 January 2022 (attached). 

The meeting recording can be accessed here: 

https://centralbedfordshire.public-

i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/639519 

 

(d)  To receive any other updates from meeting attendees.  

 

(e)  To consider and agree next steps 

 

6.   HEALTH HUBS: BEST PRACTICE  

 

 To consider progress/next steps in respect of sourcing health hub information 
from elsewhere in the country. 
 

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting but are asked to note 
that attendance numbers may be limited to mitigate for Covid-19 risks. Please 
contact us to advise if you wish to attend before 4pm on the day before the 
meeting. Written representations may also be submitted before 4pm on the day 
before the meeting.  
 

https://centralbedfordshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/639519
https://centralbedfordshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/639519


HEALTH SERVICES TASK AND FINISH GROUP Friday, 4 March 2022 
 

 

 

7.   CORRESPONDENCE FROM BASSETT ROAD SURGERY PPG (Pages 65 - 

68) 

 

 To receive correspondence copied to the Town Council by the Bassett Road 
Surgery Patient Participation Group (attached) and to consider formally 
supporting their request to BLMK CCG regarding ear wax removal services. 
 

* Phones and other equipment may be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog from this meeting by an individual Council member, 
officer or member of the public.  No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves to go into 
exempt session.  The use of images or recordings arising from this is not within the Council’s control. 



This page is intentionally left blank



   
   

Page 13 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

HEALTH SERVICES TASK AND FINISH GROUP 
 

MONDAY 18 OCTOBER 2021 AT 1200 HOURS  
 

Present: Councillors  G Perham – in the Chair 
  S Jones 
  T Morris 
  R Goodchild 
  S Owen 
        

                      Also in attendance:       S Sandiford (Deputy Town Clerk) 
  I Haynes (Head of Grounds & Environmental  
  Services) 
  A Selous (Member of Parliament) 

Cllr T Stock (Central Bedfordshire Council) 
Cllr C Hegley (Central Bedfordshire Council) 
P Coker, (Central Bedfordshire Council) 
Dr J Henderson, (Bassett Road Surgery) – 
joined 12:12 
Dr L Lewis, (Bassett Road Surgery) 
N Barnes, (NHS BLMK Clinical 
Commissioning Group) – joined 12:18 
D Picking (NHS BLMK Clinical Commissioning 
Group) 
D Martin (East London NHS Foundation Trust) 
Cllr D Bowater (joining remotely) 
Cllr V Harvey (joining remotely) 
Cllr P Snelling  
 

       Members of the Public:   0  
 
 
19/HS APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 Apologies for absence had been received from the Town Clerk and from B 
Collins (NHS BLMK CCG).  It was noted that N Barnes had been delayed and 
would join the meeting as soon as possible.  
 

20/HS DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

No pecuniary declarations were made or dispensations requested. 
 
21/HS QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 

 There were no members of the public present.  
  

22/HS MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

The Task and Finish Group received the minutes of the Health Services Task 
and Finish Group meeting held on 15 July 2021. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Health Services Task & Finish Group 18 OCTOBER 2021 
                                                                                                                                                                            
 

Page 14 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Health Services Task and Finish Group 
meeting held 15 July 2021 be approved as a correct record and were signed 
accordingly. 
 

 Minute reference 18/HS: Mr Selous was asked if he would provide a copy of the 
letter. 

 
 Minute reference 17/HS: clarification was sought regarding whether the town’s 
GP practices had started discussing the Hub and potential service delivery. Dr 
Lewis advised there were regular meetings of the Primary Care Network and 
preliminary discussions were taking place regarding collaborative working.  

  
 23/HS INTEGRATED HEALTH AND CARE HUBS UPDATE 
 

Patricia Coker, Head of Partnerships and Performance for the department of 
Social Care, Health and Housing at Central Bedfordshire Council, introduced a 
presentation regarding improving service delivery in Leighton Buzzard. This set 
out the joint aspiration of the local authority with the health service to deliver five 
integrated health and care hubs across the geographical area, in a phased 
approach and based on a hub and spoke model.  
 
The Leighton Buzzard hub was intended to be the fifth hub delivered based on 
various prioritisation criteria including the current number of patients per square 
metre and the operational/space constraints of the GP practices. Currently there 
was an average of 16.87 patients per square metre across the three GP 
practices which represented a lesser operational constraint than in other areas. 
 
The challenges faced in Leighton Buzzard were echoed across other areas and 
included: ageing population, housing growth, growth in service demand, lack of 
capacity in primary care, workforce shortages within primary care and the need 
to find efficiencies by changing the way in which services were delivered. 
Essentially, the historic model of all patients first seeing a GP before being 
referred on to other services was no longer sustainable. 
 
A strategic outline case was the first phase in developing a business case and 
was testing feasibility. Following the development of the strategic outline case, 
two stakeholder workshops had taken place in May 2018 with a focus on 
identifying the needs of the locality and considering potential location options. A 
shortlisting process had identified three potential sites which were: land south of 
the High Street, land south of Vandyke Road and the Leighton Buzzard VOSA 
testing station. A selection of the comments made about the three sites was 
shared. The conclusion drawn was that the land south of the High Street site 
was more problematic in terms of vehicular access and impact on the town 
centre, so the Vandyke Road site and the VOSA test station site would both be 
considered as the preferred way forward.  
 
It was clarified that the potential sites could be revisited at the outline business 
case stage.  
 

Page 2



Health Services Task & Finish Group 18 OCTOBER 2021 
                                                                                                                                                                            
 

Page 15 

No significant capital funding had yet been identified for the Hubs in West Mid 
Beds, Houghton Regis or Leighton Buzzard. The difficulties of accessing NHS 
capital funding were explained, with funding often being fragmented, not 
consistent or with short timescales. This lack of certainty over funding made it 
impossible to give a firm timescale for development of an integrated hub in 
Leighton-Linslade. There was potential for discussion with the developers of the 
Clipstone Park housing estate as to whether the land allocated for a GP practice 
could be converted to capital receipts and that Town Council support would be 
welcomed in this respect. 
 
The next step would be development of a service model – the range and type of 
services needed – and an outline business case.  This work would require 
significant engagement. CBC and BLMK CCG would continue to work together 
as quickly as possible to be ready to respond to opportunities for capital funding 
as these arose.  
 
D Martin, Associate Director of the East London NHS Foundation Trust, gave an 
overview of recent changes in local primary care provision, based on a 
collaborative working model. This was the start of extending services and offer 
in the town – essentially a conceptual “virtual hub” as a precursor to an actual 
hub – which would see the pro-active joining up of partners to offer high quality 
services and anticipate patient needs. A virtual “multi disciplinary team” (“MDT”) 
involving various parties was due to be mobilised from mid- November and would 
provide a robust network of support for patients, leading to improved outcomes 
for people.  
 
A GP Patient Survey published in July showed the proportion of patients who 
rated their overall experience as good (compared with the national average of 
83%): Leighton Road surgery 77% (increase from 45% the previous year), 
Salisbury House surgery 76% and Bassett Road surgery 84%).   
 
A number of questions were asked and points were made in relation to the 
integrated hub programme as well as service delivery in Leighton-Linslade. The 
need for an out of hours service as well as a minor injuries unit was expressed. 
It was stated that recent figures indicated there were now 18% less doctors than 
five years ago, with a 12% increase in population, and that while the average 
number of patients per GP was 2,300, it was 2,500 in Leighton-Linslade.  
 
Mr Selous acknowledged that the current system did not allow for proper 
planning of increased capacity in health services as a result of housing 
development and that he would continue to pursue this matter, along with the 
process of obtaining capital funding for healthcare, with colleagues in 
Parliament.  
 
Questions were asked about the use of a basic metric regarding the number of 
patients per square metre in determining local priority and it was felt that the 
number of doctors per thousand patients would be more relevant. Mr Selous 
requested that the CCG provide statistics for all medical practitioners per head 
of population across Central Bedfordshire areas for comparison purposes. Mr 
Picking advised it should be possible to provide this as well as recruitment 
statistics but that it might take some time to collate the information.  

Page 3



Health Services Task & Finish Group 18 OCTOBER 2021 
                                                                                                                                                                            
 

Page 16 

The apparent decision that a GP practice was not viable on the new Clipstone 
Park development was questioned. BLMK CCG representatives advised that 
small GP practices were no longer sustainable either financially or clinically and 
that priority was now given to expanding existing practices. This was a more 
robust model, providing greater stability and resilience in terms of income and 
workforce.  
 
Frustration was expressed regarding the lack of anticipated timescales but it was 
felt that regular updates to the Task and Finish Group would help demonstrate 
that progress was being made. The Group expressed frustration at the perceived 
lack of engagement with the Town Council to date as it was felt that on matters 
such as proposed location of a hub, the Town Council would have significant 
local knowledge to share.  
 
Dr J Henderson of Bassett Road Surgery thanked CCG representatives for the 
explanation regarding the three-stage business case process and the difficulties 
in accessing NHS capital funding. He agreed that smaller practices were no 
longer viable and that the local practices were working collaboratively through 
the primary care network to improve and develop services. The three local 
practices were short of space for current services and with the growth in 
population as well as new roles coming in, the doctors would welcome additional 
space and the opportunity to contribute to the production of the outline business 
case.  
 
It was noted that further development of services was not necessarily dependent 
upon additional premises and that some services could continue to be improved 
in the shorter term, whilst work on the integrated hub programme was ongoing.  
 

 24/HS NEXT STEPS  
 

 Councillors expressed some frustration about not having been able to review the 
presentation slides in advance as these contained a lot of detailed information. 
P Coker apologised for this which had been due to annual leave and advised 
she would share the presentation slides following the meeting.   
 
Councillor Owen asked whether Central Bedfordshire Council was prepared to 
share the strategic outline case – as had been requested at previous meetings 
– and also the summary findings of the two stakeholder workshops held in May 
2018. P Coker advised some summary information had been shared but that the 
documents contained some sensitive information and partners would need to 
consider the request further.  
 
It was confirmed that representatives would be happy to come back to a future 
meeting to share information on how things were progressing across healthcare 
services, as well as progress with the integrated hub programme.  
 
No future meeting date was agreed but the Chair advised he hoped the Group 
could receive an update on progress in around six months’ time.  

 
 
 

Page 4



Health Services Task & Finish Group 18 OCTOBER 2021 
                                                                                                                                                                            
 

Page 17 

 
The meeting closed at 1340 hours. 
 

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE RECORD 
OF THE MEETING HELD ON 18 OCTOBER  2021. 

  

 

Chair                       10 November 2021  

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



   
   

Page 18 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

HEALTH SERVICES TASK AND FINISH GROUP 
 

WEDNESDAY 10 NOVEMBER 2021 AT 1100 HOURS  
 

Present: Councillors  G Perham – in the Chair 
  S Jones 
  T Morris 
  D Bowater 
        

                      Also in attendance:       M Saccoccio (Town Clerk) 
  S Sandiford (Deputy Town Clerk) 
  Cllr V Harvey (joining remotely) 

Cllr S Owen (joining remotely)  
Cllr R Goodchild (joining remotely) 
 

       Members of the Public:   0  
 
 
25/HS APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 No apologies for absence had been received.  
 

26/HS DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

No pecuniary declarations were made or dispensations requested. 
 
27/HS QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 

 There were no members of the public present.  
 

 28/HS MEETING HELD 18 OCTOBER 2021 
 

(a) The Task and Finish Group reviewed the first draft minutes of the meeting 
held 18 October 2021. It was agreed to include the comments regarding 
satisfaction with GP surgeries, but that the draft minutes could then be published 
for later approval. 
 
(b) The Task and Finish Group reviewed a draft letter to be sent out to Central 
Bedfordshire Council and the BLMK Clinical Commissioning Group further to the 
meeting held on 18 October 2021.  A number of minor amendments were 
requested and the revised drafts would be circulated by email prior to being sent 
out. 
 
(c) The Task and Finish Group considered next steps and agreed it would 
like to pro-actively seek information about best practice in health hubs 
elsewhere, for example Bromley by Bow. It was felt that having more information 
would help the Town Council in being able to comment during the service 
modelling and business case engagement work anticipated to take place in 
2022.  
 

Page 7



Health Services Task & Finish Group 10 NOVEMBER 2021 
                                                                                                                                                                            
 

Page 19 

Cllr Harvey agreed to make contact with a possible source of information and 
advice with a view to setting up an information gathering meeting.  

 
 
 
The meeting closed at 1208 hours. 
 

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE RECORD 
OF THE MEETING HELD ON 10 NOVEMBER  2021. 

  

 

Chair                              4 MARCH  2022 

Page 8



 

 

Central Bedfordshire Council 

 

07 December 2021 

Executive 

 
Integrated Health and Care Hub, Leighton-Linslade – Motion 
Proposed by Cllr Harvey 
 
Report of: 
Cllr Tracey Stock, Executive Member for Health & Wellbeing and Communities, 
Tracey.stock@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 
 
Responsible Director: 
Julie Ogley, Director of Social Care, Health and Housing 
Julie.ogley@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 
 
This report relates to a decision that is Non-Key  
 

Purpose of this report  
 
A Motion was put before Council on 23 September 2021 by Cllr Harvey regarding the 
aspirational programme for an Integrated Health and Care Hub in Leighton Buzzard. The 
motion was subsequently referred to the Executive for consideration under Council 
procedure rule 17.6.1 as the Motion falls within the remit of the Executive.  Rule 17.6.1 

requires that the motion is accompanied by a covering report which should include any 
appropriate risk assessments when presented to the Committee. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Executive is asked to: 
 
1) consider Cllr Harvey’s Motion which stands referred from full Council and 

decide whether to support or reject it; and 
 
2) advise officers of any alternative approaches Executive would prefer to see 

being taken to the matters raised in the Motion. 
 
 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations  
 

1. This motion was referred to Executive under the Constitution and therefore it is not 
appropriate for it to be considered by Overview and Scrutiny. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Tracey.stock@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.ogley@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk


 

 

 
Issues 

 
2. The wording of Cllr Harvey’s Motion presented to Council was as follows: 
 
Motion proposed by Councillor Harvey 
 
3. This Council notes that the CBC Health & Wellbeing Board have recently received a 

progress report from CBC and NHS officers that places a Leighton-Linslade Health 
Hub at the bottom of its planned Hubs priority list, and that no firm Plan exists for the 
delivery of this Hub or for identifying a funding stream. No tangible progress has 
been made since concerns were raised by Leighton-Linslade representatives in 
August 2019. 

 
4. This Council notes the concern expressed by Leighton-Linslade Town Council at the 

failure of CBC and NHS officers to engage with the Town Council's Health Group 
despite promises to do so, or to supply them with requested documents relating to 
Hub planning. 
 

5. In the light of the fact that Leighton-Linslade is the largest single urban area in 
Central Bedfordshire, that it is the only town of its size in the UK without even a local 
Minor Injuries Unit, and that it is the furthest town in Central Bedfordshire from a 
major Hospital, this Council requests the Executive to inject greater urgency into the 
planning of the Leighton-Linslade Health Hub by: 

  
a)  setting a realistic but early ready for service date for the Leighton-Linslade Hub 
b)  securing commitment from its NHS partners for that greater urgency 
c)  requiring officers to identify funding stream options 
d)  committing to better engagement, starting now, with the Leighton-Linslade 

Town Council Health Group in genuine consultation over the: 
 

• location and footprint (current outline plans for an edge of town solution are 
not workable) 

• a model that does not restrict devolution of hospital services at the outset by 
limiting the model to available space at the three existing surgeries) 

• specification of services. 
• requiring officers to fully assess accessibility by sustainable transport for all 

sections of society when analysing site options. 
 
6. This Council asks the Executive to directly manage this increased tempo in planning 

and delivering a Leighton-Linslade Health Hub and to ensure that CBC Leighton-
Linslade Members and the Leighton-Linslade Town Council Health Group receive 
regular progress reports. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



 

 

 
The Programme for Integrated Health and Care Hubs  
 
7. The Council has a long-standing aspiration to bring care closer to where people live, 

through a programme of five Integrated Health & Care Hubs across Central 
Bedfordshire, along with several key “spokes” to take account of the rural geography 
of Central Bedfordshire.  This vision was set out in Central Bedfordshire Health and 
Wellbeing Board’s Better Care Fund Plan, in 2015 and more recently confirmed in 
the local NHS organisation Estates Plan for Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes 
Integrated Care System.   
 

8. The Council’s commitment to delivering integrated care closer to where people live 
has been unwavering.  The Council’s Social Care Health and Housing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee undertook an enquiry to support the delivery of one of the 
priorities of the Council’s Five-Year Plan for “Protecting the Vulnerable, Improving 
Wellbeing”. The enquiry sought to understand the national strategic drivers, barriers 
and risks and receive evidence, advice and information from sector experts to agree 
an emerging approach to redesign how residents access health and care services.  
The Enquiry resolved that all partners of the health and social care sector adopt and 
demonstrate a commitment to delivering the five key principles. Principle two focused 
on Health and care being accessed as close to home as possible.  Appendix A sets 
out the recommendations. 
 

9. Integrated Health and Care Hubs will enhance the transformation of Primary and 
community-based care for the population of Central Bedfordshire.  The Hubs will 
facilitate the bringing together of primary care services with community and mental 
health, social care and specialist services to better enable the delivery of seamless 
integrated care for residents.  
 

10. Local authority services that affect the wider determinants of health and wellbeing 
can also be co-located with health services to deliver integrated outcomes for people. 
Importantly, services will be more locally accessible to all Central Bedfordshire 
residents, when needed.  
 

11. In order to achieve this aspiration, the Council is working with local NHS 
organisations on a programme for Integrated Health and Care Hubs for Dunstable, 
Biggleswade, West Mid Beds, Houghton Regis and Leighton Buzzard.   
 

12. The Council earmarked funding for construction of two of the Hubs, Dunstable and 
Biggleswade and this was set out in the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. This 
partnership aspiration for up to five Hubs across Central Bedfordshire is subject to 
affordability and availability of funding by the partners, including the Council, and 
other sources including NHS Capital and Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
business cases.   
 

13. The scale of investment for the Hub Programme necessarily requires a planned and 
phased approach.  Whilst funding has been identified for two of the Hubs, delivery of 
the other Hubs remains an aspiration of the partners and is dependent on capital 
funds being available.   

 

Page 11



 

 

Hub Programme Prioritisation  
 

14. In setting up the programme for the Hubs, health partners advised on prioritisation for 
delivery of the Hubs based on where the existing primary care and other health 
estate is under capacity, most challenged, fragmented or holding back local services 
from growing and transforming. The benchmark for considering a practice to be 
constrained is if their patients per m² is above 20-24, is derived from an extrapolation 
from the Health Building Notes (HBN 11-01): Facilities for Primary and Community 
Care Services.  
 NHS England » (HBN 11-01) Facilities for primary and community care services 
 

15. The trajectories for housing and broader population growth are  also  key factors.  
This objective approach across the whole programme identified that some of the 
localities are more constrained for space than others, and this has been the basis for 
the phasing of the Hub delivery plan.  These factors will influence health service 
investment both in terms of capital and revenue commitment The following table 
shows the relative capacity gaps. 

 

 
 
 

Page 12

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/facilities-for-primary-and-community-care-services-hbn-11-01/


 

 

Engagement with Central Bedfordshire ward Members and the Leighton-Linslade 
Town Council Health Group  
 
16. The Health and Wellbeing Board is the responsible Group overseeing the Integrated 

Health and Care Hubs Programme. The Hub Programme is a standing agenda item 
on the Health and Wellbeing Board’s forward plan. Health and Wellbeing Board 
meetings are held in public and open to all members who wish to attend.   
 

17. In addition to the Health and Wellbeing Board updates, when requested and 
competing priorities allow, officers attend various Town and Parish Council meetings 
to give an update on the Programme.   
 

18. In direct response to Cllr Harvey’s motion: 
 

• Officers and health partners have provided updates to both the Leighton Linslade 
Town Council and more recently to the newly formed Leighton & Linslade Health 
Task Force Group.  
 

• Officers attended meetings of the Task Force Group on 18 December 2020.  
 

• More recently Officers from the CCG and clinicians from the Primary Care 
Network and Community health services also joined the meeting in October 2021 
and explained some of the service developments already underway and planned, 
to help maximise the existing premises and the service offer available to the 
Leighton Buzzard community.  
 

• The October meeting was also attended by Andrew Selous MP. The extensive 
presentation given at the meeting is attached for information as appendix 1.     
 

Leighton Buzzard Hub Programme  
 
19. Early work on a partnership led strategic case for a Hub in Leighton Buzzard took 

place in 2018. As part of the process, engagement workshops with residents and key 
stakeholders were held in May and June 2018. The workshops, which were attended 
by over 20 people in each workshop, included representation from all the GP 
Practices, the Patient Network and both Central Bedfordshire Council and local town 
councillors, helped to provide a clear steer around the likely mix of services which 
would be needed and the site options for developing the Hub in the Leighton Buzzard 
area.  
 

20. These scoping or strategic case documents are working documents and include 
commercially sensitive information.  This has meant that officers have not been able 
to share these. Officers have, over time shared output from the engagement events 
which took place as part of the work with town councillors and Ward Members.   
  

21. Planning work for the overall Hub Programme was paused due to systemwide 
redirection of resources to meet the challenges of the Covid-19 pandemic.   This has 
meant a change in the indicative timeline for the Hub Programme.  
 

Page 13



 

 

22. As there is currently no significant capital identified for Leighton Buzzard Hub, 
Officers are continuing with the work on developing an Outline Business Case to 
ensure that there is a viable bid should national funds become available. 
 

23. Work on developing a service model and schedule of accommodation, including a 
further site options appraisal will take place as part of the commencement of work on 
developing an outline business case.   This will also consider the cost effectiveness 
of a minor injuries unit in Leighton Buzzard. 
 

24. The process for producing an Outline Business Case will require further engagement 
with a wide variety of stakeholders, including the Town Council.   
 

25. Based on the current challenges around covid and planning for Booster vaccinations, 
the need to continue to prioritise health and local resources to meet the challenges 
posed by the pandemic, remains.  Consequently, the indicative timescales, detailed 
planning work around the range of services, space requirements and the layout of 
the Leighton Buzzard Hub is unlikely to commence before Summer 2022.   
 

26. Until capital funding is secured, it is not possible to give a delivery date for a Hub in 
Leighton Buzzard. 
 

27. The Council is continuing to work with health partners to improve health and care 
services and the aspiration for an integrated health and care hub for Leighton 
Buzzard remains, however this continues to be dependent on capital funding being 
secured.   

 

Options for consideration 
 

28. It is for members of the Executive to decide whether to support or reject the motion 
as set out above. 

 

Reason/s for decision 
 

29. This matter has been automatically referred to Executive by full Council under council 
procedure rule 17.6.1. 

 

Council priorities  
 

30. The aspiration for integrated health and care hubs supports the Council’s priority: 
Protecting the Vulnerable, Improving Wellbeing through the provision of integrated, 
local facilities where people can access a wide range of health and care services all 
under one roof, as well as the priority of Creating Stronger Communities by co-
locating services in one facility and supporting a place-based approach. 
 

31. It should be noted that delivering this aspiration is a partnership approach between 
the Council and Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes Clinical Commissioning 
Group and the Integrated Care System as a whole. Decision on prioritisation of 
delivery of the Hubs is influenced by premises constraints and investment priorities 
for the CCG on its capital and revenue disbursement.   
 

Page 14



 

 

 

Corporate Implications  
 
Human Resources 

 
32. Integrated Health and Care Hubs will facilitate the location of an integrated, locally 

based, multidisciplinary workforce working within one network of care delivery. This 
will help to achieve more sustainable and resilient primary care services and mitigate 
the impact of workforce shortage, particularly in primary care. 
 

33. Co-located services can help to address workforce concerns by providing a more 
compelling offer to younger staff to ensure there is a sufficient workforce to deliver 
care for a growing local population.  
 

 
Health and Safety 

 
34. Leighton Buzzard has the lowest premises constraints compared to the rest of 

Central Bedfordshire and its residents currently have access to a wide range of 
services, consistent with the rest of the population.   
 

35. GP surgeries in Leighton Buzzard are working with the Community Health Services, 
Mental Health and Social Care to deliver more joined up care for the people of 
Leighton Buzzard.  This will have a real impact on how local people, particularly 
those who are old and frail, experience health and care services.   

 

Legal Implications 
 

36. As there is currently no significant capital identified for the Leighton Buzzard Hub, it is 
uncertain when capital is likely to be available.  Approval of the motion would compel 
officers to pursue capital without confirmation of availability of capital.  
 

 

Financial and Risk Implications 
 

37. No significant capital funding has yet been identified Leighton Buzzard.   Officers will 
continue to explore options to maximise S106 contributions to support delivery. 
 

38. Planning work will continue to ensure the system is best placed to respond to any 
funding opportunities as presented. 
 

39. The PCN is investing in additional roles and working with the wider multi-disciplinary 
teams to support the delivery of integrated care for people.  
 

40. In approving the motion there is a risk of building expectations of the local residents 
that a Hub would be delivered within a specific timeframe, whilst uncertainty of capital 
remains. 

 
 

Page 15



 

 

Equalities Implications 
 

41. Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality of opportunity, 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and foster good 
relations in respect of nine protected characteristics; age disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 
42. Consideration of equalities has been built into Hub Programme.  Development of the 

Service Model, Outline Business Case and design for the Hub will take account of 
the health inequalities, equity in service provision and meets statutory access 
requirements.  

 

Sustainability Implications 
 

43. The provision of an Integrated Health and Care Hub will directly support the delivery 
of aspects of the Council’s Sustainability Plan by setting out and driving forward an 
approach to address the climate challenge in a way that ensures wider sustainability 
benefits are embedded in any capital works undertaken. 
 

44. The provision of an Integrated Health and Care Hub will lead by example in the 
transition to carbon neutrality on its own estate, both with existing buildings and new 
buildings. Contractors will be asked to deliver, where possible, Carbon reduction 
measures and to embrace innovation that links to the Council’s Sustainability Plan. 

 
Conclusion and next Steps  

 
45. Integrated Health and Care hubs continue to remain a key part of the programme in 

delivering integrated services across Central Bedfordshire and NHS Partners remain 
committed to the Hub Programme. This is set out in the in the local NHS 
organisation’s Estates Plan for Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes Integrated 
Care System. (Appendix B) 
 

46. The Integrated Health and Care Hub programme has a robust governance 
framework that comprises all key partners. This is overseen by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and receives regular updates on the Hub Programme.  Interested 
parties can follow updates there. This will maintain consistency and avoid duplication 
of work. 
 

47. Capital funding has been secured to support delivery of the first two Hubs in 
Dunstable and Biggleswade.  
 

48. Whilst no significant capital funding has yet been identified for the remaining three 
Hubs, planning work for these schemes will continue as planned, to ensure the 
system is best placed to respond to any funding opportunities that might present to 
finance capital construction costs for the West Mid Bedfordshire, Houghton Regis, 
and Leighton Buzzard Hubs.  
 

Page 16



 

 

49. Furthermore, officers and Partners will continue to explore opportunities for capital 
funding as well as ensure that appropriate engagement with all key stakeholders is 
undertaken as the programme progresses 
 

50. A realistic target for a Leighton Linslade Hub can only be set when source of capital 
is identified. 

 
51. The location and footprint for a Hub in Leighton Buzzard will be assessed as part of a 

further site options appraisal for the Outline Business Case. It will also consider other 
key factors such as Journey times and transport accessibility. 
 

52. A Needs led Service Model and Schedule of Accommodation will be developed as 
part of the overall outline business case.  The Service model will also consider the 
demand and cost effectiveness of a minor injuries’ unit in Leighton Buzzard. 
 

53. The Executive is asked to consider whether to approve or reject the motion. The 
motion requires identification of capital funding for a Leighton Buzzard Hub. 
 

54. Should the motion be not approved, the Executive is asked to note the direction of 
travel and ongoing works to progress the partnership aspiration for Integrated Health 
and Care Hubs across Central Bedfordshire.   

 
 
 

Background Papers 
 
None  

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Leighton Buzzard Update 
 
Appendix A – SCHH OSC Integration Enquiry Report 
 
Appendix B – BLMK ICS Estates Strategy Refresh 2021 
 

 

Report author(s): 

Patricia Coker, Head of Partnerships and Performance 
patricia.coker@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 

 

Page 17

mailto:patricia.coker@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



 

Page 1 

At a meeting of the Executive held in the Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk, 
Chicksands, Shefford on Tuesday 7 December 2021, 9:30 a.m. — 12:19 p.m. 

 
  
Present:     

Cllr R Wenham (Chair) 
Cllr S Clark (Vice-Chair) 

     
Executive Members: Cllrs K Collins Cllrs C Hegley 
  I Dalgarno  D Shelvey 
  E Ghent  T Stock 
  S Dixon   
     
Apologies:  None   
     
Absent:  None   
     
Members in  Cllrs I Bond Cllrs V Harvey 
Attendance:  N Bunyan  P Snelling 
  A Dodwell  E Wallace 
  S Goodchild  S Watkins 
  C Gomm  N Young 
     
     
Officers in Attendance: Ms L Carver Director of Place and 

Communities 
 Mr M Coiffait Chief Executive 
 Ms S Ferguson Interim Director of Children’s 

Services 
 Mr E Garcez Director of Transformation 
 Mrs V Head Director of Public Health 
 Mrs S Hobbs Senior Committee Services Officer 
 Mrs J Ogley Director of Social Care, Health 

and Housing 
 Mr T Stephenson Head of MANOP 
 Mr C Warboys Director of Resources 
 Ms L White Policy Manager - Leisure, 

Libraries & Countryside 
 
 
1. Minutes 
 

RESOLVED 
 
that the minutes of the meeting held on 12 October 2021 be confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 
Executive – 7 December 2021 
     

Page 2 

 
2. Members’ Interests 

 
Councillors Ghent and Hegley declared an interest in items 22 and 28 ‘Appointment of 
Preferred Bidder for Care Home 2, Short Breaks Unit 1 and HRA funded Independent 
Living Scheme; Steppingley Road, Flitwick’ as they were Non-Executive Directors of 
the Central Bedfordshire Group. They were not present in the room during this item. 
 
 

3. Chair’s Announcements and Communication 
 

No announcements were made. 
 

 
4. Petitions 

 
a) Pedestrianisation of Leighton Buzzard High Street 
 

Mr Littlehale presented a petition that requested the Council to permanently 
pedestrianise Leighton Buzzard High Street, and invest in more benches, trees, 
greenery, cycle parking, a continuous surface across the street, while making 
good provision for deliveries and disabled parking. Also investigate bringing 
buses closer to the high street without letting them drive down the High Street 
itself.  Since the High Street had been temporarily pedestrianised it had made it 
a more appealing place to shop and residents had already benefitted from 
cleaner air.  Mr Littlehale used the town of Salisbury as an example of a town 
that had also pedestrianised its town centre.  Better access for those with 
mobility issues would need to be considered with additional disabled parking 
spaces and better access for bus users.  Surveys had indicated that the public 
wanted walking and cycling to be made easier.   
 
The Executive Member for Community Services explained that he had met Mr 
Littlehale on market day in Leighton Buzzard.  At the Traffic Management 
Meeting on 24 January 2022 consideration would be given to the extraordinary 
Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) that was put in place in March 2020 for the high 
street to be pedestrianised.   Options to be considered would be to make the 
TRO permanent, revert back to the previous situation or advertise a new TRO, 
this would also include considering any changes to areas such as disabled 
parking, operating hours, class of vehicles that could use the High Street and 
available parking.  Evidence was being collected to inform the report being 
considered on 24 January which would include a local economic impact 
assessment.  The Town Council would be undertaking a market user survey and 
Central Bedfordshire Council would also be running a Market Survey, the results 
from these surveys would also be included in the report on 24 January.  The 
Council was working with bus operators to increase passenger use.  There had 
been issues with the barrier and additional solutions were being considered. 

 
 
 
 

Page 20



 
Executive – 7 December 2021 
     

Page 3 

 
5. Questions, Statements or Deputations 
 

No members of the public had registered to speak. 
 
 

6. Forward Plan of Key Decisions 
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that the Forward Plan of Key Decisions for the period 1 January 2022 to 31 
December 2022 be noted.  

 
The decision was unanimous. 
 
 

7. Schools for the Future – Special Educational Need and Disability (SEND) 
Consultation Report 
 
The Executive considered a report from the Deputy Leader and Executive Member for 
Families, Education and Children that set out the response to the ‘Have Your Say’ 
consultation undertaken on the proposals to increase places in Additional Resource 
Provisions and at Special Schools as part of the Schools for the Future programme.  
 
In response to questions, the Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Families, 
Education and Children explained: 
 

 that there had been a proposal for a second site at Oak Bank School, Leighton 
Buzzard but following feedback from the consultation this had received the 
lowest support.  Further conversation would be held with the School to discuss 
the best way of delivering those additional places required.  Further proposals 
would be brought forward in the New Year; 

 that BB103 was guidance for schools and this would be applied to all new 
builds but it was not necessarily appropriate or possible to deliver this at 
existing schools as part of the Schools for the Future Programme.  The Council 
was working with schools to make sure they had the space required to deliver 
the curriculum; 

 the lack of provision in Leighton-Linslade was going to be addressed; 
 the Council would be delivering on the places for September 2022 and 2023 

and once the plans had been finalised they would be shared publicly.  
 
Reason for decision:  To enable the Council to have the right education provision in 
place to meet the needs of children with SEND in Central Bedfordshire, as this would 
enable those children to reach their full potential and live fulfilled lives.  

 
RESOLVED 

 
1. that the consultation feedback be noted; 
 

Page 21



 
Executive – 7 December 2021 
     

Page 4 

2. that the annual revised forecast for special school and specialist places be 
noted; 

 
3. that the intention to deliver the extra Additional Resource Provision places 

by 2023, as set out in the consultation document, be approved; 
 
4. that the proposed next steps detailed in the report be noted; 

 
5. that the development of a strategic specialist place plan, working with key 

stakeholders, for children with SEND by early 2022, which responds to the 
outcome of the consultation and contributes to addressing the gap in 
places identified be approved; and 

 
6.  that the progress feasibility work with schools as required, in order to 

develop business cases based on the revised forecast need for places be 
noted. 

 
The decision was unanimous. 
 
 

8. Formation of a Fairness Executive Task Force 
 
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Sustainability and 
Transformation that sought approval of the formation of a Fairness Executive Task 
Force.  The report proposed that an Executive Task Force be established to review 
the information relating to the needs of residents and consider the development of a 
refreshed approach and programme to tackle and prevent deprivation – helping 
residents succeed. This would need to take account of the real challenges and 
hardship that the Covid 19 pandemic had brought to many residents. The work of the 
Executive Task Force would be informed by the commissioning of expert external 
support to identify high impact initiatives to make the most difference for our residents. 
 
In response to questions, the Executive Member for Sustainability and Transformation 
explained: 
 

 that there were pockets of deprivation and poverty across the whole of Central 
Bedfordshire and Members on the Task Force would be asked to focus on this 
rather than their own wards; 

 that Members on the Task Force would be expected to be available to go out 
into the community as this would not be a desk-based exercise; 

 a presentation had been considered by the Health and Wellbeing Board to 
enable health partners to share information that the Council could learn from; 

 that he had visited the kitchen garden in Houghton Regis and was very 
impressed with the work being carried out there; 

 that areas of hardship that had arisen since the beginning of the pandemic 
would emerge; 

 updates would be provided with a final report being submitted to the Executive 
at the end of the summer 2022; and 

Page 22



 
Executive – 7 December 2021 
     

Page 5 

 the Task Force would be made up of 7 Members; 1 Executive Member, who 
would also be chair, 3 Conservative non-Executive Members, 1 Independent 
Group Member; 1 Liberal Democrat Group Member and 1 non-aligned Member. 

 
Reason for decision:  To enable the Council to review its approach to fairness and 
preventing and tackling poverty. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
1. that the formation of a Fairness Executive Task Force be approved; and 

 
2. to authorise the Executive Member for Sustainability and Transformation to 

confirm the Members of the Executive Task Force, as set out in paragraph 
7 of the report. 

 
The decision was unanimous. 
 
 

9. Integrated Health and Care Hub, Leighton-Linslade – Motion Proposed by 
Councillor Harvey 
 
Councillor Harvey introduced her Motion that had been presented to Full Council on 
23 September and referred to the Executive for consideration.  The Motion asked the 
Executive to directly manage the increased tempo in planning and delivering a 
Leighton-Linslade Health Hub and to ensure that Leighton-Linslade Members and the 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council Health Group receive regular progress reports. 
 
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Health & Wellbeing 
and Communities that set out the details of the Motion including the appropriate risk 
assessments.   
 
The Executive Member for Health & Wellbeing and Communities explained that: 
 

 no significant capital funding had yet been identified for a hub in the Leighton-
Linslade area; 

 capital funding had been secured to support the delivery of the first two Hubs, 
Dunstable and Biggleswade; 

 the Council was working with local NHS organisations to secure Integrated 
Health and Care Hubs across Central Bedfordshire as the responsibility for this 
was with the Clinical Commissioning Group and the NHS and not the Council; 

 regular update on the Hubs Programme was provided to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board; 

 she had attended the Town Council’s Health Group along with officers.  
Unfortunately, the CCG and the local GP were unavailable for the July meeting 
as they were dealing with covid-19 issues; 

 the NHS strategic document did not belong to the Council, it was the 
responsibility of the NHS to share it publicly; 

 the Bedfordshire Hospitals Trust were very interested in locating services to 
the Dunstable Health Hub and she hoped that this would continue with future 
Hubs; 

Page 23



 
Executive – 7 December 2021 
     

Page 6 

 once all partners were able to bring forward a business case for a Leighton-
Linslade hub further consultation would be undertaken;  

 the BRCC had Community Wellbeing Champions that covered the whole of 
Central Bedfordshire so there would be social prescribing in Leighton Buzzard; 
and 

 she proposed that the Motion be rejected and that the ongoing works be noted. 
 
The Leader confirmed that the Council had and was delivering a number of large 
capital projects across the whole of Central Bedfordshire, including Leighton-Linslade. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
1. that the motion proposed by Councillor Harvey at Council on 23 September 

2021 and referred to the Executive be rejected; 
 
2.  to note that the motion required identification of capital funding for a 

Leighton Buzzard hub; and 
 
3. that the direction of travel and ongoing works to progress the partnership 

aspiration for Integrated Health and Care Hubs across Central 
Bedfordshire be noted. 

 
The decision was unanimous. 
 
 

10. New Leisure Centre – Leighton Linslade 
 
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Health & Wellbeing 
and Communities that set out the approach to addressing the Leisure Facilities 
Strategy recommendation to provide a new, replacement leisure centre for the 
Leighton catchment area.  £25M had been allocated in the Medium Term Financial 
Plan in 2021/22 for this scheme. 
 
Reason for decision:  To secure a site for the provision of a new leisure centre without 
incurring the capital cost of land purchase and to provide a modern indoor sports and 
leisure spaces and facilities to meet the needs of the current and planned population 
in the Leighton area and address the recommendations in the Leisure Facilities 
Strategy. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
1. that public consultation on the proposed future indoor leisure centre 

provision for the Leighton area be approved; this would consider the 
provision of a new centre within the Clipstone Park development area and 
the proposed closure of Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre once the new facility 
was open, and address the Leisure Facilities Strategy recommendation; 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



 
Executive – 7 December 2021 
     

Page 7 

 
 

2. that the approach set out to progress negotiations with the development 
consortium to secure the education and sports pitch sites on the Clipstone 
Park development to facilitate the provision of a new leisure centre be 
approved, subject to future Executive consideration of the results of the 
consultation and recommendations regarding future leisure provision in 
the Leighton area; 

 
3. that progression to RIBA Stage 2 and 3 to develop a viable design to inform 

the proposed consultation and preparation of tender documentation be 
approved; 

 
4. in conjunction with the above, progression of the agreements with the 

development consortium to secure the land needed, be approved. This 
documentation would not be entered into until further Executive approval 
regarding the leisure provision for the Leighton area was given. Once this 
further approval was obtained the agreement with the development 
consortium transferring the land needed for the new leisure centre 
conditional on the grant of the relevant planning permission, and 
completion of the Deed of Variation to the s106 agreement, had been 
signed; 

 
5. that the compliance with recommendations 1 to 4 above, to authorise the 

Director of Place and Communities, in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Health, Wellbeing and Communities, the Director of Resources 
and the Executive Member for Corporate Resources, to enter into all 
appropriate legal documentation be approved; and 
 

6.  that a report be presented to a future meeting of the Executive that sets out 
the results of the public consultation together with a preferred, costed 
option for future leisure provision in Leighton-Linslade, and seek approval 
to progress to tender and the procurement of a building contractor.  

 
The decision was unanimous. 
 
 

11. Levelling Up Fund – Kingsland, Houghton Regis and Clophill Roundabout 
 
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Planning and 
Regeneration that sought authority to progress with the following capital projects after 
being awarded Levelling Up Fund from the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities and Department of Transport: 
 

 £19.9M for the community and leisure facilities at the Kingsland site in 
Houghton Regis; and 

 £6.8M for the completion of improved highways infrastructure at the 
Clophill/A507/A6 junction. 
 

Page 25



 
Executive – 7 December 2021 
     

Page 8 

Reason for decision:  To enable the Council to enhance Central Bedfordshire and 
invest in infrastructure to deliver the projects set out in the Council’s five-year plan. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
1. that the approach to community engagement and consultation be 

approved and to authorise the Director of Place and Communities and 
Director of Resources (S151 Officer), in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Planning and Regeneration and the Executive Member for 
Corporate Resources, to approve the final designs of the leisure and 
community facilities in Houghton Regis and to approve any change in 
provision resulting from the consultation responses; 
 

2. that the initial offers from the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC) for £19.9M towards community and leisure 
facilities in Houghton Regis and £6.8M towards Clophill highways and 
roundabout improvements be accepted and that officers attend inception 
meetings in early December to finalise next steps on grant agreement 
contracts, memorandum of understandings and delivery.  These meetings 
would be led by DLUHC for successful regeneration and culture bids and 
by Department for Transport (DfT) for successful transport bids. 
 

3. that ongoing project development work and spend to deliver the two 
capital projects meeting essential criteria for the grant awards of 
achieving capital spend in this financial year be approved and all grant 
monies spent by the end of March 2024; 
 

4. to authorise the Director of Place and Communities and Director of 
Resources (S151 Officer), in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Planning and Regeneration and the Executive Member for Corporate 
Resources, to enter into grant agreements with the Government for 
these two capital programmes; and 
 

5. to authorise the Director of Place and Communities and Director of 
Resources (S151 Officer), in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Planning and Regeneration and the Executive Member for Corporate 
Resources, where required to approve procurement processes and 
award contracts to deliver the schemes, and for the Clophill scheme to 
award contracts for the statutory undertakers for the design and 
diversion of their plant. 

 
The decision is unanimous. 
 
 

12. Central Area Growth Board Membership 
 
The Executive considered a report from the Leader of the Council that proposed that 
the Council became a full member of the Central Area Growth Board.  The report 
outlined the terms of reference for adoption and the commitment to the relevant 
ongoing contributions. 

Page 26



 
Executive – 7 December 2021 
     

Page 9 

 
In response to a question, the Leader confirmed that the Central Area Growth Board 
had no planning powers. 
 
Reason for decision:  To enable the Council, in the interest of its residents, to engage 
in regional partnerships to access government funding and to demonstrate its 
commitment to regional work and to be an active partner within the Cambridge - Milton 
Keynes - Oxford corridor. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
1. that the Council being part of the Central Area Growth Board be approved, 

on the basis of the Terms of Reference document set out at Appendix 1 to 
the report; 
 

2. that Councillor Richard Wenham (Council Leader) be the representative of 
the Council on the Central Area Growth Board, be approved; 

 
 

3. that an Executive Member who could substitute for Cllr Wenham be 
approved; 

 
4. that Milton Keynes Council be the accountable body for the Central Area 

Growth Board, be approved; and  
   
4. that a financial contribution to the operation of the Central Area Growth 

Board of £5000 for financial year 2022/23 be approved. 
 
The decision was unanimous. 

 
 
13. Highways Asset Management Framework and Strategy 

 
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Community 
Services that sought approval of the Highways Asset Management Framework and 
the Housing Asset Management Strategy.   To deliver the best service and secure the 
maximum Highways Maintenance Capital Funding from the Department for 
Transport’s ‘Incentive Fund’ the Highways Service needed to regularly review key 
efficiency measures and policies. A requirement of being a top-level authority included 
a renewed commitment, at senior level, to the principles of Asset Management. The 
Highways Asset Management Framework and the Highways Asset Management 
Strategy develops the Council’s approach from 2017. 
 
In response to a question, the Executive Member for Community Services explained 
that officers were undertaking a huge piece of work to map all the Council’s assets. 
 
Reason for decision:  To enable the Highways Service to sustain its position as a 
Band 3 authority, secure future Incentive Funding and become a more cost effective, 
efficient, and resilient service for its network users. 
  

Page 27



 
Executive – 7 December 2021 
     

Page 10 

 
RESOLVED 
 
that the following key documents be approved: 
 
-  Highways Asset Management Framework (Appendix A to the report); and 
-  Highways Asset Management Strategy (Appendix B to the report). 
 
 

14. Proposals for undertaking Public Consultation on the Reconfiguration and 
Refurbishment of Biggleswade Library 
 
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Community 
Services that outlined the proposals for the refurbishment and reconfiguration of 
Biggleswade library and the plans for carrying out a public consultation on the 
proposals.  The reconfiguration of Biggleswade Library would see a Children’s Centre, 
Registration Service and a satellite office co-located within the library building. 
 
Reason for decision:  To ensure that the proposal was subject to full consultation 
before any decision was made. 
 
RESOLVED 

 
that a public consultation on the proposed refurbishment and re-configuration 
of Biggleswade library be approved.  This would see a Children's Centre, 
Registration Services and a Satellite Office co-located within the library 
building. 
 
The decision was unanimous. 
 
 

15. Proposals for undertaking Public Consultation on the Relocation and New Fit 
Out of Stotfold Library 
 
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Community 
Services that outlined the proposals for the relocation of Stotfold library with new 
furniture, fixtures and fittings and authorise the public consultation on the proposals. 
 
Reason for decision:  To ensure that the proposal was subject to full consultation 
before any decision was made. 
 
RESOLVED  
 
that a public consultation on the proposed project to relocate and enhance with 
new furniture and fixtures at Stotfold Library be approved.  The proposal being 
to relocate the library from its existing location within Stotfold at Hitchin Road, 
Stotfold SG5 4HP to a new location in Stotfold at the Greenacre Centre. 
 
The decision was unanimous. 
 

Page 28



 
Executive – 7 December 2021 
     

Page 11 

 
The Executive adjourned for a 10 minute break. 

 
 

16. Glass Bulking and Processing, Street Cleansing and Bulky Waste disposal 
Procurement and Contract Award 
 
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Community 
Services that sought approval of the commencement of the procurement process for 
glass bulking and disposal, street sweepings disposal and bulky waste disposal.   
 
Reason for decision:  To enable the Council to procure the services and award the 
contracts to facilitate the continuity of the services. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
1. that a competitive procurement process for the bulking and disposal of 

glass waste, and disposal of street sweepings, bulky waste and fly tipped 
waste be approved; and 
 

2.  to authorise the Director of Place and Communities, in consultation with 
the Executive Member for Community Services, the Director of Resource 
and the Executive Member for Corporate Resources, to award a contract 
following the completion of the procurement process and approve the 
execution of all relevant legal documentation. 

 
The decision was unanimous. 
 
 

17. Future Highways Contract 
 
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Community 
Services that outlined the proposed approach for the future delivery of the Highways 
maintenance service and sought approval to retender the services for new 
arrangements to begin on 1 April 2023. 
 
In response to questions, the Executive Member for Community Services explained 
that the Council used many different frameworks within the organisation to support the 
contract delivery and to ensure best value.  The Highways team had been split; one 
area would be working on the procurement for the new contract and another area 
would be looking at the delivery of the new contract, whilst a team would continue 
working with the current providers. 
 
Reason for decision:  To ensure that a decision was taken in a timely manner to 
enable the procurement of a new contract to deliver value for money and the best 
service for residents. 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



 
Executive – 7 December 2021 
     

Page 12 

 
RESOLVED 
 
that the recommendation to end the current Highways term service contract at 
the end of the initial term on 31 March 2023 be approved and to retender the 
services for new arrangements to begin on 1 April 2023. 
 
The decision was unanimous. 
 
 

18. Extension of the Integrated Contraception and Sexual Health Services Contract 
provided by Cambridgeshire Community Services – iCaSH 

 
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Health & Wellbeing 
and Communities that sought approval to extend the integrated contraception and 
sexual health contract delivered by the Cambridgeshire Community Services for the 
full 2-year extension.  The service was achieving its key performance indicators and 
there had been no issues identified through performance management of the contract. 
The contraception and sexual health provision across Central Bedfordshire was of a 
high quality. The service was commissioned by Public Health on behalf Central 
Bedfordshire and Bedford Borough Councils and delivered services across both 
areas. 
 
Reason for decision:  iCaSH had continued to fulfil the contractual requirements, 
including achieving their key performance indicators, throughout the 5 year period.  
The service had increased the availability and access to contraception and sexual 
health provision to the residents of Central Bedfordshire, including a robust on-line 
STI testing programme. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
that the 2 year extension to the current Public Health integrated contraception 
and sexual health contract delivered by Cambridgeshire Community Services 
(iCaSH) be ratified. 
 
The decision was unanimous.  
 
 

19. Update on the Provision of the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme service in Central 
Bedfordshire 
 
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Health & Wellbeing 
and Communities that provided an update on the provision of the 0-19 Healthy Child 
Programme in Central Bedfordshire, particularly the increased investment required 
because of increased demand during the pandemic. 
 
Reason for decision:  To enable the commissioners, partners and the provider to 
continue to work strategically and collaboratively over the next two years, to plan for 
how best to sustain and deliver the most safe and effective 0-19 Health Child 
Programme beyond 2023. 

Page 30



 
Executive – 7 December 2021 
     

Page 13 

 
RESOLVED 
 
that the plans and financial allocation to restore service provision to pre-
pandemic levels, using Public Health strategic reserve funding, as set out in 
paragraph 21 of the report, be approved. 
 
The decision was unanimous. 
 
 

20. Purchase of Property for Use as Affordable Accommodation 
 
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Assets and 
Housing that sought approval for the Council, via its Housing Revenue Account, to 
purchase a property development within Central Bedfordshire.  The development 
would deliver multiple units as affordable housing in a new residential area close to 
amenities.  The details of the development and the appraisal were set out in the 
exempt appendices. 
 
Reasons for decision:  The proposed acquisition provided a good opportunity for the 
Council to acquire and increase stock with 56 newly built properties, meeting relevant 
legislation and energy efficiency standards, in an accessible location, which would 
help meet housing need. 
 
RESOLVED 

 
1. that the acquisition of a development of residential properties with the 

freehold interest be approved, at the location and cost set out in Appendix 
A; and 
 

2.  to authorise the Director of Social Care Health and Housing, in 
consultation with the Executive Member for Assets and Housing, the 
Director of Resources and the Executive Member for Corporate Resources, 
to approve all necessary legal documentation relating to the transaction 
and its execution. 

 
The decision was unanimous. 
 
 

21. Appointment of Preferred Bidder for Care Home 2, Short Breaks Unit 1 and HRA 
Funded Independent Living Scheme; Steppingley Road, Flitwick 
 
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Corporate 
Resources that sought approval to award the contract for the construction of the 
Steppingley Road development. 
 
Reason for decision:  To complete a strategically important project and deliver on 
investment in this project to date as there was no certainty when or that the Council 
would achieve a better price by delaying. 
 

Page 31



 
Executive – 7 December 2021 
     

Page 14 

 
RESOLVED 
 
1. that contingency funding be approved, the use of which was agreed and 

approved at Executive on 13 July 2021 and Council on 22 July 2021, to 
enable the award of a contract for the construction of the Steppingley Road 
development; 
 

2. to authorise the Director of Place and Communities, in consultation with 
the Director of Resources, the Executive Member for Corporate Resources 
and the Executive Member for Housing and Assets, to authorise 
expenditure of this capital as required to deliver the project; and 
 

3.  that the appointment of the preferred contractor as per Appendix 1 to the 
report be approved. 

 
The decision was unanimous. 
 
 

22. Revenue Budget Monitoring Q2 (September) 2021/22 
 

The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Corporate 
Resources that set out the forecast outturn position as at September 2021. 
 
In response to a question, the Executive Member for Corporate Resources agreed 
that it was important to recruit and develop highly skilled officers to deliver services.  

 
Reason for decision:  To facilitate effective financial management and planning. 

 
 RESOLVED 
 

1. that the revenue forecast outturn position for 2021/22 which was a 
balanced budget, be noted; and 
 

2.  request that officers continue to take the necessary action to deliver a 
balanced budget, avoiding the need to draw on the budgeted contingency 
so far as possible. 

 
 The decision was unanimous. 
 
 
23. Capital Budget Monitoring Q2 (September) 2021/22 

 
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Corporate 
Resources that set out the forecast capital outturn position as at September 2021. 

 
Reason for decision:  To facilitate effective financial management and planning. 
 
 
 

Page 32



 
Executive – 7 December 2021 
     

Page 15 

RESOLVED 
 

that the capital gross forecast outturn position was a spend of £141.4M (net 
£84.1M), demonstrating the continued significant capital investment made by 
Central Bedfordshire Council to support its communities. 

 
The decision was unanimous. 

 
 

24. Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget Monitoring Q2 (September) 2021/22 
 
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Corporate 
Resources that set out the Housing Revenue Account revenue and capital outturn 
position as at September 2021. 
 
In response to a question, the Executive Member for Sustainability and 
Transformation explained that the first year of the Sustainability Plan was about 
having the correct resources in place and then to start delivering.  The Council was 
doing a very good job at leading by example and now there was capacity within the 
team consideration was being given to how the Council could influence businesses 
and residents on the green agenda, including green employment in Central 
Bedfordshire. 
 
Reason for decision:  To facilitate effective financial management and planning. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
1. that the revenue forecast of a balanced budget with a contribution to HRA 

Reserves of £3.83M, be noted thus strengthening the Council’s ability to 
invest and improve its stock of Council Houses; 
 

2.  that the Capital forecast position indicates a net outturn of £46.51M, 
representing a positive variance against the budget of £60.63M, with 
proposals for slippage of £10.13M; and 

 
3.  that Right to Buy (RtB) sales be monitored for the possible impact on 

predicted surpluses in the medium to longer term. 
 
The decision was unanimous. 
 
 

25. Purchase of Property for Use as Affordable Accommodation 
 
Minute 25 related to exempt business.  See minute 20 above. 
 
 

26. Appointment of Preferred Bidder for Care Home 2, Short Breaks Unit 1 and HRA 
Funded Independent Living Scheme; Steppingly Road, Flitwick 
 
Minute 26 related to exempt business.  See minute 21 above. 

Page 33



 
Executive – 7 December 2021 
     

Page 16 

 
 
 

Chairman ……………..……………………….. 
 
 

Dated ………………………..…………………. 

Page 34



Dear Cllr Perham, 
 
Thank you for your letter of 18 November. Unfortunately, I did not receive the letter which Sarah 
Sandiford has now forwarded to me by email. As we are Working From Home electronic 
communication is preferable. 
 
At the Task and Finish Group on 18 October 2021, myself and other colleagues, including clinicians 
from the Primary Care Network and Community health services set out in our presentation, some of 
the service developments already underway and planned, to help improve the health and care 
experience of residents of Leighton Buzzard.  
 
The presentation also included a summary of the findings from the early strategic scoping work 
including the stakeholder workshops. We also explained that, whilst there is currently no significant 
capital identified for Leighton Buzzard Hub, officers intend to continue to work on the aspiration and 
that this work will include development of the service model and outline business case for a Hub to 
ensure that there is a viable bid should national funds become available. Work on producing a 
service model and business case will include a cross section of stakeholders including the town 
council and local residents. Given the current constraints on all health colleagues, owing to the 
impact of the pandemic and especially the vaccination programme, it isn’t possible to be exact about 
when this work will recommence.  
 
As you are aware, updates on the Hub Programme are reported to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
Ward Members and members of the general public are able to attend the meetings and can have 
access to the papers of the meeting. We would however be happy to attend meetings of the 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council when there are developments to inform the town council about. I 
would therefore suggest that meeting in April/May is likely to be premature. 
 
As mentioned earlier, based on the current challenges around covid and health and care services 
needing to reprioritise to focus on the pandemic, it is currently not possible to give an indicative 
timescale for when the work on the service model is likely to commence. We will be happy to advise 
the Town Council when this work can recommence but please note that timings for the delivery of 
the Hub can only be discussed once capital funding is secured.  
 
In the meantime, we are not waiting for a physical building to be delivered before delivering real 
changes for Leighton Buzzard residents. My colleague, Debbie Martin gave an update on the 
programme “Working Together in Leighton Buzzard” that is bringing local GPs, community health, 
mental health, social care and the wider voluntary sector together to jointly plan and deliver care for 
local people. We held a workshop for residents on 29 November 2021 to showcase this new way of 
working. We intend to hold further workshops in future and will advise Central Bedfordshire 
members and the Town Council of these. 
 
I have noted your comments about sight of the Strategic Business Case and that you are, rightly, 
picking this up with BLMK CCG colleagues. 
 
Yours Sincerely 
 
Patricia  
 
Patricia Coker  
Head of Partnerships and Performance  
Social Care, Health and Housing  

Page 35



Central Bedfordshire Council Priory House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Bedfordshire, SG17 
5TQ 
Sat Nav Postcode SG17 5XY 
Direct Dial: 0300 300 5521 | Internal: 75521 | Mobile: 07790 621213 |  
Email: patricia.coker@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 
This email is confidential and intended exclusively for the use of the intended recipient(s). Any views 
or opinions presented are solely those of the author and do not necessarily represent those of 
Central Bedfordshire Council. If you are not the intended recipient(s) please note that any form of 
distribution, copying or use of this e-mail or the information in it is strictly prohibited and may be 
unlawful. If you have received this communication in error, please notify the sender and then delete 
the message and any attachments from your system. This message has been checked before being 
sent for all known viruses by our antivirus software. However please note that no responsibility for 
viruses or malicious content is taken and it is your responsibility to scan this message and any 
attachments to your satisfaction. Central Bedfordshire Council reserve the right to monitor e-mails 
in accordance with the Telecommunications (Lawful Business Practice) (Interception of 
Communications) Regulations 2000. Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail. 
Thank you  

 

Page 36

tel:0300%20300%C2%A05521
tel:07790%20621213
mailto:patricia.coker@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk


Central Bedfordshire Plan

Caring Together 

2021 to 2025

DRAFT

P
age 37



Context:

Central Bedfordshire The Place

P
age 38



Introduction

This Five Year Plan describes our vision for local people to have access to good quality, safe, local health and social care across our towns 
and rural areas to improve health and wellbeing and also reduce inequalities. 

This Plan, reflects our local ambitions and priorities. It focuses on areas which require transformation and a more coordinated approach to 
improve health and wellbeing. Importantly, we wish for people to experience ‘integrated care without organisational boundaries’ building 
on what local people and our workforce have told us needs to change.

Central Bedfordshire, as a place, is changing.  We have a growing population with extensive housing growth underway and planned.
Forthcoming developments such as the Oxford-Cambridge Arc will have important implications for Central Bedfordshire.  Central 
Bedfordshire is one of the four places in the Bedfordshire, Luton and Milton Keynes (BLMK) Integrated Care System, which works to improve 
population health and reduce inequalities, and is part of the Bedfordshire Care Alliance.

We want people to have access to opportunities which enable them to realise their full potential and to be empowered to have healthy and 
independent lives.  Experience of health and wellbeing is importantly determined by more than just the quality and accessibility of health 
and care services. Systemwide approach must also involve actions that prevent and reduce occurrence of ill-health, address wider
determinants of health and is underpinned by working with local communities. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board is the statutory body at place with responsibility for health, wellbeing and integration, and this plan will 
support and enhance the delivery of the health and wellbeing strategy within Central Bedfordshire, as well as improving population health 
and reducing inequalities across the wider BLMK area.

This plan is intended to be a living document and the medium and longer term ambitions will evolve as we engage with our communities. 

P
age 39



Context – Health throughout life in Central Bedfordshire

Data Source: Fingertips; NHS Health Check local analysis; Stop Smoking local analysis; National Child M easurement local analysis; NHS Digital; GOV.UK; Icons by Freepik-www.flaticon.com Better Similar Worse Lower Similar Higher Better Same Worse Not compared

Please note data displayed is based on data available in August 2021. Compared to NHS Bedfordshire, Luton and M ilton Keynes CCG average

Eligiable patients 

offered NHS Health 

Check

(2019-2020)

(Target: Red <90%, 

Amber 90% to 100%, 

Green >=100%)

Eligiable patients 

completed NHS 

Health Check

(2019-2020)

(Target: Red <90%, 

Amber 90% to 100%, 

Green >=100%)

Mental Health: QOF 

prevalence (all ages)

(comparator 0.9%)

% of registered 

patients having caring 

resposibilty

(2020)

(comparator 16.4%)

Proportion of 

households fuel poor 

(%)

(2019)

(comparator 11.5%)

Produced by Public Health, Bedford Borough Council

72.1 %

79.6 %

3,148

2.7 %

66.8 %

76.7 %65.2 % 14.5 %12 %

Babies Born 

(registered population 

aged under 1)

Registered 

population aged 

under 16

Vaccinated for MMR (2 

doses) at age 5

(Target: Red <90%, 

Amber 90% to 95%, 

Green >=95%)

Reception children 

overweight or obese

(comparator 22.1%)

Flu vaccination 

uptake: age 65+

(2019-2020)

(Target: Red <75% 

Green >=75%)

Screened for bowel 

cancer in last 30 

months (60-74)

(Target: Red <52% 

Green >=52%)

Screened for breast 

cancer in last 36 

months (50-70)

(Target: Red <70% 

Green >=70%)

Average male life 

expectancy

(2013-2017)

(comparator 79.7)

17.3 % 53.3 % 84.4 81.496 %

Year 6 children 

overweight or obese

(comparator 34.6%)

Registered working 

age population 

(16-64)

Patients with long 

term conditions

(2020)

(comparator 51.3%)

Average female life 

expectancy

(2013-2017)

(comparator 83.5)

Registered 

population 65 and 

over

% of registered 

patients in paid work 

or full-time education

(2020)

(comparator 66.4%)

528 (target 349)

0.8 % 11.6 %

% of registered 

patients unemployed

(2020)

(comparator 4.5%)

Flu vaccination 

uptake: at risk

(2019-2020)

(Target: Red <55% 

Green >=55%)

Smoking cessation: 

4 week quit status

(Target: Red <90%, 

Amber 90% to 100%, 

Green >=100%)

GP patient survey 

smoking prevelance

(2020)

(comparator 14.2%)

Estimated smoking 

prevalence (QOF)

(comparator 16.2%)

44.2 %

Women (25-64) with 

cervical screening in 

last 5 years

(2018/2019)

(Target: Red <80% 

Green >=80%)

74 %

19.8 % 52,97157,745 91.9 % 29.7 % 185,665CHILDREN ADULT

END OF 
LIFE

Comparisons 
are made with 
the rest of 
BLMK or 
targets.  As 
Central 
Bedfordshire 
is relatively 
affluent, this 
will be 
updated to 
use 
deprivation 
decile 
comparators

P
age 40



Age Profile & Population comparison

5

• Total population ≈ 300,000 

• Central Bedfordshire has fewer young people aged 15 to 29 and a 

higher proportion of the population aged 20 to 59, with the 

difference most notable in males aged 30-39 compared to 

England.

• Central Bedfordshire has the largest proportion of older people in 

BLMK (18% of people aged ≥ 65 years in Central Bedfordshire vs. 

16% overall) although it is lower than the England average

Source : 2020 Mid-year estimates, ONS

P
age 41



Children and Young People

A lower proportion of 2-2½ year olds achieve the 

expected level of development in motor skills 

and problem solving than in England

Uptake of childhood 

immunisations

The proportion of babies born at a 

very low birth weight is similar to 

England

1 in 12 babies born in Dunstable-

Manshead weigh under 2500g, 

compared to 1 in 17 across the 

local authority overall

In 2018/19, nearly1in 6
five year olds had visibly 

obvious dental decay, compared 

to 1 in 5 in England.

Uptake of primary vaccinations (6-in-1), given in the 

first months of life, is slightly above (~96%) to the 

national target of 95%. 

Uptake of vaccines given by a child’s first birthday, is in 

still slightly above (~96%) the national targets of 95%. 

3% of five 

year olds have 

not received their 

second MMR

vaccinations

P
age 42



26% of deaths are caused by cancer.

Disease and Health Behaviour Prevalence

14%
of Central Bedfordshire 

adults are current 

smokers, rising to 

21%among those in routine and 

manual occupations, and 

24% among those with a long term 

mental health condition (18+).

.

Participation in cancer screening 
programmes is good in Central Bedfordshire 
compared to similar areas:

Breast: 79.9% coverage, compared to 

74.1% in England.

Cervical: 77.1% coverage among 25 to 49 

years old, compared to 70.2% in England

Bowel: 65.5% coverage, compared to 

63.8% in England. 

Compared to England, emergency 

presentations cancer are similar for 

Bedfordshire CCG. 

Lung cancer registrations are lower 

than in England and 1-year survival is 

lower.

Compared to England, smoking 

related admissions are similar in 

Central Bedfordshire and a lower 

proportion of pregnant women are 

known to smoke at the time of 

delivery.

Admissions for COPD are lower 
than England.

11% of deaths in Central Bedfordshire are 

caused by respiratory diseases.

The incidence of prostate cancer 

for Central Bedfordshire is higher 

than in England

Data taken from the BLMK place profiles

Hypertension, Obesity, Asthma, Cancer and Strokes 

are some of the conditions that show a higher than 

average prevalence rate in Central Bedfordshire, 

while Diabetes and Smoking are below average

P
age 43



Health outcomes in Central Bedfordshire: Mortality

On most measures of mortality, Central Bedfordshire is comparable to similar 

local authorities but this masks significant inequalities.

All-cause mortality is 28% higher in Parkside ward than expected based on England standardised mortality 

ratio, 22% higher in Houghton Hall and 21% higher in Shefford.

Premature mortality from cancer was 31% higher 

than expected in Biggleswade North and around a 

29% higher in Parkside during 2015-2019 

Premature mortality (deaths under 75) from circulatory 

disease was ~45% higher than expected in Dunstable-

Northfields and Parkside during 2015-19. 

Source: local.communityinsight.org/

Lighter areas have 

lower than expected 

mortality

Darker

areas have 

higher than 

expected 

mortality

What does the SMR mean

< 100 indicates fewer than 

expected deaths

= 100 indicates observed 

deaths equals expected 

deaths

>100 indicates there were 

excess deaths

(Standardised mortality ratio 

(SMR) = the number of 

actual deaths divided by the 

number of expected deaths 

x 100)

Deaths from circulatory disease, 

under 75 years, Indirectly 

standardised ratio, 2015 to 2019 

(Standardised mortality ratio (SMR))

Source: localhealth.org.uk

Deaths from all cancer, under 75 

years, Indirectly standardised ratio 

2015 to 2019 (Standardised mortality 

ratio (SMR))

Source: localhealth.org.uk

P
age 44



Health outcomes in Central Bedfordshire: Life expectancy

A baby boy born in Central 

Bedfordshire today can expect 

to live for 81.1 years and a baby 

girl for 84.6 years

The life expectancy gap is mainly due 

to higher deaths from circulatory 

diseases, cancer and respiratory 

diseases in more deprived areas. 

There is higher number of cancer 

deaths in males and higher circulatory 

and mental and behavioural deaths in 

females. 

Breakdown of the life expectancy gap in Central 
Bedfordshire  between most and least deprived deciles 
by broad cause of death, 2015-17

Baby boys born in the most 

affluent parts of Central 

Bedfordshire will live around 5.4 

years longer than those born in 

the most deprived areas. This 

gap is 5.3 years for baby girls.

Source : PHE Segmentation tool

P
age 45



Context – the wider determinants of health 

Good work pays fairly and offers security, ensures good working conditions, promotes a good work life balance and provides training and

opportunities to progress. People who are well are more likely to be in employment and people who are employed are more likely to be in good 

health. People in higher status roles are more likely to be healthy and less likely to die of heart disease. There is an 8.5 percentage point gap in 

the employment rate between those with a long-term health condition and the overall employment rate, rising to a 69 point gap for those in 

contact with secondary mental health services and a 74 point gap for those with a learning disability.

Money and Resources – we know that poverty damages health and poor health increases the risk of poverty. An inadequate income makes it 

more difficult to avoid stress and feel in control, access experiences and material resources, adopt and maintain healthy behaviours, and feel 

supported by a financial safety net. A 2019 analysis by Loughborough University estimates that 24% of children living in Central Bedfordshire 

live in poverty, after housing costs are taken into account

A good education helps build strong foundations for supportive social connections, accessing good work, life-long learning and problem solving, 

and feeling empowered and valued. By the age of 30, those with the highest levels of education are expected to live four years longer than those 

with the lowest levels of education. In Central Bedfordshire, although 73% of children achieve a good level of development at the end of year R, 

only 44% of those on Free School Meals (FSM) achieve this and by year 11 whilst 41% of children achieve 9-5 in English and maths, only 

10% of children on FSM achieve this – closing the gap is fundamental to reducing inequalities.

Housing conditions influence our physical health, mental health and wellbeing. A healthy home is affordable and offers a stable and secure 

base, is able to provide for all the household’s needs, and is connected to community, work and services. Whilst there are just under 200 

households in transitional accommodation in Central Bedfordshire, there are around 1,300 households currently at risk of eviction due to 

the gap between benefits paid and cost of rent

Good surroundings can help people be more physically active, feel safe and secure, use facilities and services, and socialise and play. There 

is strong evidence to suggest that green spaces have a beneficial impact on physical and mental wellbeing and cognitive function through both 

physical access and usage. Although access to green space is good in Central Bedfordshire 1 in 5 adults are doing less than 30 minutes of 

medium intensity exercise per week.

Climate change is a major threat to physical and mental health, yet it is estimated that Carbon dioxide emissions attributable to the NHS in

England are greater than the annual emissions from all aircraft departing from Heathrow airport.  59% of emissions are linked to procured goods 

(22% to pharmaceutical products alone), 24% to energy use in buildings and 17% to patient and staff travel. 

P
age 46



Family, friends and communities build the foundations for good health through: positive 
relationships and networks; community cohesion and connection; opportunities for 
social participation; and shared ownership and empowerment. 

43% of adult social care service users in Central 

Bedfordshire  feel they have as much social contact as 

they would like.

42% of adult carers in Central Bedfordshire feel they 

have as much social contact as they would like. 

A lack of social connections is as 

damaging to our health as 

smoking15 cigarettes 

a day

Context – places and communities

Central Bedfordshire has the poorest scores for 
social mobility and gender inequalities across 
BLMK in the thriving places index. Social mobility is 
the link between a person’s occupation or income 
and the occupation or income of their parents. 
Where there is a strong link, there is a lower level 
of social mobility. Where there is a weak link, there 
is a higher level of social mobility.
social mobility reflects families stuck in a cycle of 

povertySource: www.thrivingplacesindex.org

2021 Thriving Places Scorecard

P
age 47

http://www.thrivingplacesindex.org/


Social mobility index
measures

Central Bedfordshire scored well (orange) 
on opportunities for adults but poorly 
(blue) for many of the education indicators 
This suggests that although we are 
developing good opportunities for our 
residents in terms of jobs and housing, we 
are not preparing all our young people to 
take advantage of these opportunities
The Social Mobility Commission has since 
developed alternative measures that 
more directly link children’s outcomes to 
those of their parents

Early years 
(2 indicators)

FSM good level of development 

School 
(4 indicators)

FSM KS2 achievement; 
FSM KS4 achievement; 
Ofsted school ratings

Youth 
(5 indicators)

FSM NEET*; 
FSM A level achievement

Adulthood
(5 indicators)

People paid less than the Living 
Wage Foundation living wage**

Life stage Poorly performing indicators

Best performing 10% 80-90% 70-80% 60-70% 50-60%

20-30% 10-20% Worst performing 10%40-50% 30-40%

Key to colours used:

* NEET = Not in Employment, Education or Training
** £9.50 per hour in 2020/21 vs £8.72 National Minimum Wage.

P
age 48



Deprivation in Central Bedfordshire

• Central Bedfordshire ranks 137 out of 

151 upper tier and unitary local 

authorities (where 1 is most deprived).

• 3 out of 157 Lower Super Output Areas 

(LSOAs) in Central Bedfordshire are 

ranked in the most deprived 20% 

nationally, with none among the most 

deprived 10%.

• The most deprived LSOAs fall within 

the wards of Dunstable-Manshead, 

Parkside and Flitwick (East)

Source : Index of Multiple Deprivation, 2019 *

P
age 49



Context – Geographical Considerations

Central Bedfordshire does 

not have a hospital based 

within administrative 

boundary

Residents access multiple 

hospitals across several 

CCGs for acute care

Central Bedfordshire is considerably more rural than the BLMK 

average, with twice as much of the area designated as rural by the 

ONS

This has implications across service areas, from providing services 

such as domiciliary care to accessing community services

The local plan for Central 

Bedfordshire states a need 

for 32,000 new dwellings by 

2035, which will have a 

significant impact on 

demand for services.

Further consideration also 

needs to be given to the 

implications of the 

Oxford/Cambridge Arc and 

the likely demand for further 

new dwellings as a result

P
age 50



Vision and Priorities

P
age 51



Living Well
Ageing 

Well

Reducing 

Inequalities

Everyone has the right and 

opportunity to live their healthiest 

life, with the required support 

and infrastructure in place to 

make healthy choices easier, 

and services that are available 

and accessible to those who 

need them

Everyone can age well, with 

support to retain as much 

independence as they can, and 

access to the services they 

need.

We will work to understand the 

changing needs of our elderly 

population, shaping services and 

plans to meet these needs 

We will ensure that everyone 

can access the services they 

need, while working to address 

wider determinants of health 

inequality to give everyone the 

best possible outcomes

Living Well

Everyone has the right and 
opportunity to live their healthiest 
life, with the required support and 

infrastructure in place to make 
healthy choices easier, and 

services that are available and 
accessible to those who need them

Ageing Well

Everyone can age well, with support 
to retain as much independence as 

they can, and access to the 
services they need.

We will work to understand the 
changing needs of our elderly 

population, shaping services and 
plans to meet these needs 

Promoting Fairness and 
Community Inclusion

We will ensure that everyone can 
access the services they need, 
while working to address wider 
determinants of health to give 

everyone the best possible 
outcomes

Our Priorities

P
age 52



Central Bedfordshire's plan is 
consistent with ICS priorities and 
Bedfordshire Care Alliance goals 

Our delivery plan will demonstrate 
how these plans align

Context of Vision and Priorities

Central Bedfordshire 
Place Plan

ICS Priorities Bedfordshire Care Alliance Priorities

Central Bedfordshire Council Priorities

*The BCA priority areas represent the current 

priorities; further priorities may be added in future 

with agreement across BCA partners

P
age 53



Living Well: 5 Core Pillars

Every child has the 

best start in life, 

promoting lifelong 

mental health and 

wellbeing

Mental health and 

resilience is 

maximised for people 

of all ages

Vulnerable people with 

equitable access to 

services and enabled 

to live the life they 

want

Older people 

supported to remain 

independent and 

access the services 

they need

Residents have access 

to the information, 

advice and 

infrastructure they 

need to optimise their 

own health and 

wellbeing

The Living Well priority seeks to 

include everyone, providing fair and 

equitable access to services and 

giving people the support and tools 

they need to live well and make 

healthy choices

These 5 pillars represent the core 

goals within the Living Well priority; 

Actions and activities will be assessed 

against how well they further these 

goals before inclusion in the plan

P
age 54



Ageing Well: 5 Core Pillars

The Ageing Well priority seeks to 

ensure that we continue to provide the 

support and services required to meet 

the needs of our ageing population, 

while adapting to changing demands 

and models of care, through both the 

formal service offer and through 

supporting and developing community 

based services.

These 5 pillars represent the core 

goals within the Ageing Well priority; 

Actions and activities will be assessed 

against how well they further these 

goals before inclusion in the plan

Supporting people to 

remain independent 

within their own 

home

Enabling older 

people to remain 

economically active 

for as long as they 

wish to.  

Supporting 

communities and 

reducing social 

isolation

Providing the right 

services in the right 

places at the right 

time

Building community 

services, 

encouraging and 

developing a vibrant 

care economy

P
age 55



Promoting Fairness and Community Inclusion: 5 Core Pillars

The Reducing Inequality priority seeks 

to identify and tackle the underlying 

inequalities in the social and wider 

determinants of health, to give 

everyone the best opportunity to live a 

healthy life and promote better, 

equitable access to services, across 

community, acute and primary care

These 5 pillars represent the core 

goals within the Reducing Inequalities 

priority; Actions and activities will be 

assessed against how well they 

further these goals before inclusion in 

the plan

Create fair 

employment and 

good work for all

Work to achieve 

equitable health and 

social outcomes for 

all

Helping people to be 

closer to the care and 

services they need

Understand and 

tackle the social 

determinants of 

health, including 

housing quality, 

social isolation and 

access to education

Create and develop 

healthy and 

sustainable places 

and communities

P
age 56



Enablers and Delivery ModelP
age 57



Co-production

Workforce 
Wellbeing

Supportive  
Infrastructure 

Place Led 
Commissioning

Digital

The Plan: Enablers for Delivery

These enablers form the 

basis of how we deliver 

our plan, ensuring that we 

put improving the health 

and wellbeing of the 

whole population at the 

heart of everything we do:

P
age 58



WHAT AN INTEGRATED SYSTEM OF CARE MIGHT LOOK LIKE 

Empowered people supported at 

home and in the community to 

promote maximum independence 

CARERS 

COMMUNITY 

FAM I LY 

PERSONAL 

CARE 

NETWORK 

HOLISTIC 
CARE PLANS

SELF CARE 

Population Health Management approach 
to Proactive care  

PATIENT CENTERED

PERSONALISATION

CARE AT HOME 

Responsive high quality care 

Virtual MDT  

Local Authority CBC

Primary Care @Home 

Health and Wellbeing 

Community Mental Health Service

Primary Care Network

Joined up care at PCN footprint to 

provide improved health experience and 

outcomes for the population.  

OT Assessment 

Social prescriber

Specialist  nurses

GP Assessment 

Palliative Care Team

The Plan: Integrated Care Model at PCN Footprint

Crisis Team

Voluntary Sector

Community 

Matron

Physiotherapy

Meals on wheels

Memory Clinic

P
age 59



The Plan: Key Considerations and Actions

Restoration of 
services post 

Covid

Improving 
access to 

Primary Care

Discharge to 
Assess 

pathways

Reducing 
Avoidable 

Admissions

Resilience and 
Wellbeing of 
Children and 
Young People

Improving 
Mental 

Wellbeing and 
Services

P
age 60



Key Action/Consideration Associated Priorities How it fits

Restoration of services 

post Covid

Living Well

Promoting Fairness and Community Inclusion

Ageing Well

- Residents have access to the information, advice and infrastructure they need to 

optimise their own health and wellbeing

- Helping people to be closer to the care and services they need

- Older people supported to remain independent and access the services they 

need

Improving access to 

Primary Care

Living Well

Promoting Fairness and Community Inclusion

Ageing Well

- Early identification and intervention in long term conditions

- Work to achieve equitable health and social outcomes for all

Discharge to Assess 

pathways

Ageing Well

Living Well

- Reduced delays for residents ready for discharge from hospital, leading to better 

outcomes

- Increased availability of hospital beds

Reducing Avoidable 

Admissions

Living Well

Ageing Well

- Increased availability of hospital beds

- Improved management and support of long term conditions

- Residents supported to manage their own health and wellbeing

Resilience and Wellbeing 

of Children and Young 

People

Living Well

Promoting Fairness and Community Inclusion

- Every child has the best start in life, promoting lifelong mental health and 

wellbeing

- Promoting better lifelong outcomes

- Addressing inequalities in wellbeing of young people

Improving Mental 

Wellbeing and Services

Living Well

Promoting Fairness and Community Inclusion

- Work to achieve equitable health and social outcomes for all

- Residents have access to the information, advice and infrastructure they need to 

optimise their own health and wellbeing

- Mental health and resilience is maximised for people of all ages

- Helping people to be closer to the care and services they need

P
age 61



The Plan: Governance Frameworks

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Board

Joint Strategic 
Planning 

Group

Collaboration 
Board for 

Ageing Well

Frailty and 
Complex Care 

Group

Leighton 
Buzzard 

Project Group

Enhanced 
Health in Care 
Homes Group

Reducing 
Inequalities 

Board

Issue Focused 
Working 
Groups

Living Well 
Board

Issue Focused 
Working Group

ICS

ICS 
Partnership 

Board

Bedfordshire 
Care Alliance

BCA Oversight 
Group

BCA 
Workstream 

Groups

P
age 62



Further Information

P
age 63



Strategies that 
informed the 

Place Plan

Joint Strategic 
Needs 

Assessment 

Director of 
Public Health’s 

Report

Central 
Bedfordshire 
Vision 2050

NHS Reset and 
Restore

BLMK 
Integrated 

Care System 
Priorities 

Children and 
Young People’s 

Plan

Joint Health 
and Wellbeing 

Strategy

Bedfordshire 
Care Alliance 

Priorities

We live in a unique and 
special environment

We have the best quality of 
life

Promoting and 
welcoming 
innovation

Reducing 
inequalities

Understanding 
the needs of the 

current and future 
population

Ensuring that growth delivers 
improvements in health 

and wellbeing for current and 
future residents

Partnerships and connecting 
communities

Driving change to improve 
mental health 

and wellbeing for people of 
all ages

Supporting 
and promoting 

integration 
of services

Health Inequalities

Lockdown and Mental Health

We live in thriving 
communities

Prioritising 
prevention 
and early 

intervention

We have a prosperous and 
innovative economy

SEND; joint commissioning, 
including continuing care 

agenda and therapy services

Staff health and wellbeing, 
and action on recruitment 

and retention

In everything we do we 
promote equalities in the 

health and wellbeing of our 
population

Coming together as an 
Alliance of Partners to 

achieve outcomes that cannot 
be delivered by individual 
organisations alone- more 
than the sum of the parts

We work together to build the 
economy and support 

sustainable growth

Mental Health services 

People age well, with 
proactive interventions to 
stay healthy, independent 

and active as long as possible

Coordinated approach to 
supporting ongoing PCN 

Development 

Coordinated approach to IT 
Infrastructures and digital 

integration

Every child has a strong, 
healthy start in life: from 

maternal health, through the 
first thousand days to 

reaching adulthood

People are supported to 
engage with and manage 

their health and wellbeing

Health impacts of Covid 19, 
the COVID vaccination 

programme and continuing to 
meet the needs of patients 

with COVID-19

Coordinated approach to 
people with living with frailty 

or complex needs 

School readiness – getting the 
best start in life and 

diminishing the difference in 
educational outcomes for 

disadvantaged children and 
young people 

Transforming and 
accelerating the restoration 
of elective and cancer care 
services and managing the 

increasing demand on mental 
health services

Expanding primary care 
capacity to improve access, 
local health outcomes and 
address health inequalities

Working collaboratively 
across systems 

Transforming community and 
urgent and emergency care -

prevent inappropriate 
emergency attendance (ED), 
improve timely admission to 
hospital for ED patients and 

reduce length of stay 

P
age 64



To - Pease find attached letter sent to the PCN and CCG BLMK and copied here for 
information to Leighton Buzzard Health and Wellbeing Committee and Focus on 
Services for the Over 55s  

We trust you can support us in this. 

Many thanks, 

Edith Griffith.  

 

 

 TO : Dr L Lewis & Dr J Henderson Leighton-Linslade PCN and  

 BLMK CCG representatives 

 Re : EAR WAX REMOVAL 

Cc :  Andrew Selous MP,  Dr C Longstaff (rep CCG),  Healthwatch, 

 National Association of Patient Participation Groups 

         

    Bassett Road Surgery Patient Participation Group :  Ear wax removal. 

I write on behalf of the PPGs of Bassett Road, Salisbury House and Leighton Road in 
Leighton Buzzard to urge the PCN and CCG to offer a free ‘Earwax Clearing Service’ to its 
patients in order to support vulnerable and often elderly residents and enable them to 
engage better with family and friends and enjoy a better quality of life. We view this as a 
basic service which should and could be available at all our local GP practices and be 
assimilated into the role of the healthcare assistant with minimal training and 
equipment costs (over time) and which would make a very considerable difference in 
the day to day lives of so many people.  There is great concern among patients that they 
can only access this service privately at a cost (£60-90) well beyond the reach of the 
majority of elderly people on basic pensions.  Many of us have also witnessed first hand 
our own elderly family members and friends suffering because of it. 

 

Relvant Background Information 

 I refer you to Topical Questions (23 November 2021) in Parliament.  

 Andrew Selous submitted the following question: 

« As ear syringing is no longer being undertaken in local surgeries, and as self-care 
does not work for many people, will the Government make sure that microsuction is 
available in every Primary Care Network area.  Otherwise we are leaving people to 
go deaf. »   

Maria Caulfield, Parliamentary Under-Secretary for Health and Social Care, replied: 

Page 65

Agenda Item 7



« Local Commissioners are responsible for meeting the health needs of their local 
population and should continue to ensure appropriate acces to ear wax services. 
However, should a CCG not routinely commission ear wax removal or the suction 
method that my hon. Friend refers to, a patient can request an individual funding 
request. I am happy to help my hon. Friend if that is not happening locally. » 

 

In support therefore of our request above we observe and question as follows:  

1.  Why des the CCG no longer routinely commission ear wax removal ?                                           
We are aware that the NHS no longer considers this a core service that GPs are obliged 
to provide.  However, an article in the Nursing Times (21-6-2018) quoted NICE guidance 
on Hearing Loss in Adults :  « … Hearing loss is a major public health issue affecting 
about 9 million people in England.  Due to an ageing population, it expects the number to 
rise to around 13 million by 2035. »   

2.  How is BLMK CCG continuing to ensure appropriate access to ear wax services?       
(BBC News 25 September 2020)  Mr. Edward Argar, government minister, affirmed that 
“Syringing is no longer one of the core services GPs are obliged to provide. Some groups 
of local surgeries or local Clinical Commissioning Groups band together to pay for them. 
… The provision of ear syringing is an example of an enhanced service.  If a local CCG has 
decided not to commission an enhanced service, this may relate to population needs and 
value for money.  If the build-up is linked with hearing loss, then the GP practice could 
consider referring the patient to audiology services.” 

3.  Does the CCG’s non-provision of this enhanced service make good financial 
sense?   

 Surely ear wax removal locally before referring patients would save money?  Indeed, 
those referred to a specialist are often required to have any build-up of wax removed 
first and at a cost of up to £80-90 which is not generally affordable.  They also need to 
make travel arrangements when this issue could be dealt with locally. 

4.  Does the CCG’s non-provision of  this enhanced service meet patient need?                                                 
The NHS website says that ear wax build-up leading to hearing loss and dizziness is a 
particular threat to older people.  Bassett Road Surgery (and perhaps our other local 
surgeries?) has a noticeably large number of elderly patients whose needs are clearly 
not being met in this respect.  Generally, many GPs and health practitioners will attest to 
the extraordinary difference this service can make to their patients and therefore, we 
ask why is it not being provided and furthermore, we request that it is provided as a 
priority.  

5.  How does a patient apply for an individual funding request ?                                                 
We are not aware of this and it appears to be introducing yet another level of 
unnecessary and time-consuming bureaucracy i.e. taking a sledge hammer to crack a 
nut.  Further, in our experience, many elderly patients do not PURSUE treatment which 
they cannot afford or which is only offered at too great a distance for them to travel 
whilst incurring  even more expense.  Afflicted patients then become more and more 
withdrawn and isolated, even those who are lucky enough to have personal 
support systems.  Not addressing this problem at the time within primary care can 

Page 66



only cause additional problems for the patient, affect other aspects of their lives 
and create future financial demands upon health care. 

Efficient Ear wax removal available free at local surgeries would, in our view, be 
an excellent investment and be cost effective. 

6.  Given the low priority for a health hub in Leighton Buzzard, what support does 
and would BLMK CCG extend to our local PCN with regard to ear wax removal?  

Is it possible to provide this as a free service, if not individually at each GP surgery  then 
together within the PCN and perhaps even by use of the established private clinics which 
provide it currently at a cost to individuals?   This situation needs to be addressed 
forthwith and particularly for the elderly and vulnerable.     

We would appreciate both detailed answers to these questions and a speedy and 
satisfactory resolution.  Please outline what you can and are willing to do asap in order 
to meet expressed patient need in this area. 

Thank you for your consideration of this issue. 

Yours sincerely, 

Edith Griffith – Chair of Bassett Road PPG 

 

 

 

 

 

            

 

 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 68


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	211110  Health Services draft

	5 INTEGRATED CARE HUB FOR LEIGHTON-LINSLADE
	Central Bedfordshire Council
	Purpose of this report
	Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations
	Issues
	Options for consideration
	Reason/s for decision
	Council priorities
	Corporate Implications
	Legal Implications
	Financial and Risk Implications
	Equalities Implications
	Sustainability Implications
	Conclusion and next Steps
	Background Papers
	Appendices

	Report author(s):
	Patricia Coker, Head of Partnerships and Performance patricia.coker@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
	5a. Minutes of the Meeting - 7 December 2021 (1)
	5b. CBC email 19 January 2022
	5c. Central Bedfordshire Plan Caring Together 2021-2025

	7 CORRESPONDENCE FROM BASSETT ROAD SURGERY PPG

